



**SUPPLEMENT DATED 3 FEBRUARY 2020
TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS DATED 12 JULY 2019**

SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE

as Issuer and Guarantor

(incorporated in France)

and

SG ISSUER

as Issuer

(incorporated in Luxembourg)

SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE

EFFEKTEN GMBH

as Issuer

(incorporated in Germany)

Debt Instruments Issuance Programme

This supplement (hereinafter the **Supplement**) constitutes a supplement for the purposes of Article 13.1 of the Luxembourg act dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities (the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2005**) in connection with Article 64 of the Luxembourg law dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities, as amended (*Loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilières*, the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2019** and together with the Luxembourg Prospectus Law 2005, the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act**) to the Debt Instruments Issuance Programme base prospectus dated 12 July 2019 (hereinafter the **Base Prospectus**) and approved by (a) the *Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier* (hereinafter the **CSSF**) on 12 July 2019 in accordance with Article 7 of the Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2005 implementing Article 13 of the Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC (the **Prospectus Directive**) as amended (which includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the **2010 PD Amending Directive**)) and (b) by the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (**SIX Swiss Exchange**) pursuant to its listing rules.

The purpose of this Supplement is to:

- update the Base Prospectus following the change of legal name of Société Générale Bank & Trust;
- update the section "SUMMARY" and the German version of the Summary,
- correct and update the section "RISK FACTORS"
- correct and update the section "DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE"
- update the section "FORM OF FINAL TERMS";
- correct and update the section "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW NOTES";
- update the definitions of "Outstanding Principal Balance" and "Failure to Pay" of "PART B (2014 Definitions)" in the section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES";

- update the section "DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE";
- update section "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER";
- update the section ""GENERAL INFORMATION".

This Supplement completes, modifies and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus, the first supplement dated 17 September 2019 and the second supplement dated 22 November 2019.

Full information on the Issuers and the offer of any Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of the Base Prospectus, the first supplement dated 17 September 2019, the second supplement dated 22 November 2019 and this Supplement.

Unless otherwise defined in this Supplement, terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the relevant Terms and Conditions of the Notes set forth in the Base Prospectus.

To the extent that there is any inconsistency between (i) any statement in this Supplement and (ii) any other statement in the Base Prospectus, the statements in (i) above will prevail.

In accordance with Article 13.2 of the Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2005, investors, who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for the securities before this Supplement is published, have the right, exercisable within a time-limit of two business days after the publication of this Supplement (no later than 5 February 2020) to withdraw their acceptances.

The amendments included in this supplement shall only apply to final terms, the date of which falls on or after the approval of this supplement.

AMENDMENTS TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

I. MISCELLANEOUS

On 27 January 2020, "Société Générale Bank & Trust" ("SGBT") will change its legal name to "Société Générale Luxembourg SA" ("SG Luxembourg").

As a consequence, from and including 27 January 2020, any reference to "Société Générale Bank & Trust" in the Base Prospectus should be read as "Société Générale Luxembourg SA".

II. CHANGES IN SECTION "SUMMARY"

- (i) In the section "SUMMARY", the last paragraph of Element B.4b "Known trends affecting the issuer and the industries in which it operates" on page 9 is modified as follows, whereby the figure printed in blue and underlined is added and the figure in ~~red and strikethrough~~ is deleted:

"[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

The Issuer expects to continue its activity in accordance with its corporate objects over the course of ~~2019~~2020.]"

- (ii) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.12 ("Selected historical key financial information regarding the issuer"), the table relating to the selected historical key information with regard to Société Générale is deleted and replaced by the following table, on page 10:

"

B.12	Selected historical key financial information regarding the issuer	[If the Issuer is Société Générale:				
			Nine Months 2019 (unaudited)	Nine Months 2018 (unaudited)	Year ended 31.12.2018 ⁽²⁾ (audited)	Year ended 31.12.2017 (audited)
		Results (in millions of euro)				
		Net Banking Income	18,458	19,278	25,205	23,954
		Operating income	4,327	5,163	6,269	4,767
		Underlying Group Net income ⁽¹⁾	4,753	5,668	4,468	4,491
		Reported Group Net income	2,594	3,436	3,864	2,806
		French retail Banking	901	955	1,237	1,059
		International Retail Banking & Financial Services	1,492	1,502	2,065	1,939
		Global Banking and Investor Solutions	667	1,018	1,197	1,593
		Corporate Centre	(466)	(39)	(635)	(1,785)
		Net cost of risk	(907)	(642)	(1,005)	(1,349)
		Underlying ROTE ⁽¹⁾	8.1%	11.0%	9.7%	9.6%
		Tier 1 Ratio ⁽²⁾	15.2%	13.7%	13.7%	13.8%
		Cash flow statements (in millions of euros)				
		Net inflow (outflow) in cash and cash equivalent	-	-	(17,617)	18,023

	Nine Months 2019 (unaudited)	Nine Months 2018 (unaudited)	Year ended 31.12.2018 ⁽²⁾ (audited)	01.01.2018* (audited)
Activity (in billions of euros)				
Total assets and liabilities	1,411.1	1,303.9	1,309.4	1,274.2
Customer loans at amortised costs	445.0	433.9	447.2	417.4
Customer deposits	415.1	411.4	416.8	410.6
Equity (in billions of euros)				
Shareholders' equity, Group Share	63.7	61.4	61.0	58.4
Non-controlling Interests	4.9	4.6	4.8	4.5
* The consolidated balance sheet totalled EUR 1,309 billion at December 31st, 2018 (EUR 1,274 billion at January 1st, 2018, EUR 1,275 billion at December 31st, 2017). Balances at January 1st, 2018 after first time application of IFRS 9 except for subsidiaries in the insurance sector (unaudited). ** These financial ratios are neither audited nor subjected to a limited review. (1) Adjusted for exceptional items and linearisation of IFRIC 21. (2) The presentation of the Group's consolidated income statement is modified as from 2018 following the transition to IFRS 9: - income and expenses from insurance activities are grouped on a specific line item within the "Net banking income"; - the line item "Net cost of risk" is now exclusively dedicated to credit risk;				

- (iii) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.12 on page 12, the item relating to the "Significant changes in the Issuer's financial or trading position subsequent to the period covered by the historical financial information" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 2018.]

[If the Issuer is ~~Société Générale~~ or SG Issuer:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 30 June 2019.]

[If the Issuer is Société Générale:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 30 September 2019.]"

- (iv) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.13 on page 12, the item relating to the "Recent events particular to the issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the issuer's solvency" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added:

B.13	Recent events particular to the issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the issuer's solvency	<u><i>[If the Issuer is Société Générale or SG Issuer:</i></u> Not Applicable. There have been no recent events particular to the Issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer's solvency.] <u><i>[If the Issuer is Société Générale Effekten GmbH:</i></u> <u>On 11 February 2019, Société Générale was granted approval by the European antitrust authority (the European Commission) to purchase Commerzbank AG's Equity Markets and Commodities (EMC) business segment which includes the issuance of and market making for structured trading and investment products as well as parts of the Asset Management such as the business for exchange-traded funds (ETFs).</u> <u>Due to the number of transactions to be transferred and the complexity of the respective transfer processes, however, not all transfers will be completed in 2019 and will therefore be transferred in the first quarter of 2020.]</u>
-------------	--	---

- (v) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.17 "Credit ratings assigned to the issuer or its debt securities" on page 13 is modified as follows, with provisions deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~:

[B.17]	Credit ratings assigned to the issuer or its debt securities	[Société Générale is rated A (high) by DBRS, A by Fitch Ratings, A1 by Moody's Investors Services, A by Rating and Investment Information, Inc. and A by Standard and Poor's.] <i>[If the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH: Not Applicable. The Issuer is not rated.]</i> [Not Applicable] [The Notes to be issued have [not] been rated [Specify rating(s) of Notes being issued] [by [Specify rating agency(ies)].]]
---------------	---	---

- (vi) In the section "SUMMARY", Element D.2 "Key information on the key risks that are specific to the issuer [and the guarantor]" on pages 28 and 29 is modified as follows, with provisions added in blue and underlined and deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~:

D.2	Key information on the key risks that are specific to the issuer [and the guarantor]	<u>The following categories of risk factors are identified:</u> An investment in the Notes involves certain risks which should be assessed prior to any investment decision. In particular, the Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses, including: • credit risks; • market risks; • operational risks; • structural rate and exchange risks; • liquidity risks; • non-compliance risk, litigation; and • other risks. • Risks related to the macroeconomic, market and regulatory environments
------------	---	---

		The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial position and results of operations. The Group's results may be adversely affected by regional market exposures. Increased competition, by both banking and non-banking actors, is likely to have an adverse effect on the Group's businesses and results, both in its domestic French market and internationally. <u>The global economic and financial context, as well as the context of the markets in which the Group operates, may adversely affect the Group's activities, financial position and results of operations.</u> The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses, position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates. The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission- and fee-based businesses during market downturns. Brexit and its impact on financial markets and the economic environment could have an adverse effect <u>impact</u> on the Group's activities and results of operations. <u>The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses, financial position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates.</u> Risks related to the implementation of the Group's strategic plan. <u>Increased competition from banking and non-banking operators could have an adverse effect on the Group's business and results, both in its French domestic market and internationally.</u> • Credit and counterparty risks The Group is exposed to counterparty and concentration risks, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and financial position. The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect the Group. The Group's results of operations and financial position could be adversely affected by a late or insufficient provisioning of credit exposures. • Market and Sstructural risks The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer significant losses on its trading and investment activities. <u>Changes and volatility in the financial markets may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and the results of</u>
--	--	---

		market activities. Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the retail banking activities. Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group's results. The protracted decline of financial markets or reduced liquidity in such markets may make it harder to sell assets or manoeuvre trade positions and could lead to material losses for certain activities of the Group. The Group's hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses. • Operational risks (including risk of inappropriate conduct) and models risks The Group is exposed to legal risks that could have a material adverse effect on negatively affect its financial position or results of operations. Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions the Group does business with, or failure or breach of the Group's information technology systems, could have an adverse effect on the Group's business and result in losses and damages to the reputation of the Group. The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters. Reputational damage could harm the Group's competitive position. The Group's risk management system, based notably on models, may not be effective and may expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks, which could lead to significant losses. The Group's inability to attract and retain qualified employees, as well as significant changes in the regulatory framework related to human resources management processes and compensation, may adversely affect its performance. The models, in particular the Group's internal models, used in strategic decision-making and in risk management systems could fail or prove to be inadequate and result in financial losses for the Group. The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters. • Liquidity and funding risks A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks and regulators could have a material adverse effect on the Group's cost of financing and its access to liquidity business, results of operations and financial position. The Group's dependence on its access to financing and its liquidity constraints may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.
--	--	---

		<u>A downgrade in the Group's external rating or in the sovereign rating of the French State could have an adverse effect on the Group's cost of financing and its access to liquidity.</u> Risks related to insurance activities A deterioration in the market <u>condition situation</u>, and in particular a significant increase or decrease in interest rates, could have a material adverse effect on the life insurance activities of the Group's Insurance business. [Insert if the Issuer is SG Issuer or Société Générale Effekten GmbH: Since the Issuer is part of the Group, these risk factors are applicable to the Issuer.]
--	--	---

III. CHANGES IN THE GERMAN VERSION OF THE SUMMARY (*Zusammenfassung*)

- (i) In the section "ZUSAMMENFASSUNG", the last paragraph of Element B.4b "*Bereits bekannte Trends, die sich auf den Emittenten und die Branchen, in denen er tätig ist, auswirken*" on page 38 is modified as follows, whereby the figure printed in blue and underlined is added and the figure in ~~red and strikethrough~~ is deleted:

"[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer oder die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

Die Emittentin erwartet für das Jahr ~~2019~~2020 eine Fortsetzung ihrer Geschäftstätigkeit im Einklang mit ihrem Unternehmensgegenstand.]"

- (ii) In the section "ZUSAMMENFASSUNG", Element B.12 ("*Ausgewählte wesentliche historische Finanzinformationen über den Emittenten*") the table relating to the selected historical key information with regard to Société Générale is deleted and replaced by the following table, on pages 39 and 40

B.12	Ausgewählte wesentliche historische Finanzinformationen über den Emittenten	[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:				
			Neun-Monats-Zeitraum 2019 (ungeprüft)	Neun-Monats-Zeitraum 2018 (ungeprüft)	Geschäfts-jahr zum 31.12.2018 ⁽²⁾ (geprüft)	Geschäfts-jahr zum 31.12.2017 (geprüft)
		Ergebnis (in Mio. EUR)				
		Banknettoeinkommen	18.458	19.278	25.205	23.954
		Betriebsergebnis	4.327	5.163	6.269	4.767
		Zugrundeliegendes Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe ⁽¹⁾	4.753	5.668	4.468	4.491
		Ausgewiesenes Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe	2.594	3.436	3.864	2.806
		French Retail Banking	901	955	1.237	1.059
		International Retail Banking & Financial Services	1.492	1.502	2.065	1.939
		Global Banking and Investor Solutions	667	1.018	1.197	1.593
		Corporate Centre	(466)	(39)	(635)	(1.785)
		Nettorisikokosten	(907)	(642)	(1.005)	(1.349)

		Zugrundeliegende ROTE ^{** (1)}	8,1%	11,0%	9,7%	9,6%
		Tier 1 Ratio **	15,2%	13,7%	13,7%	13,8%
		Kapitalfluss-rechnungen (in Mrd. EUR)				
		Mittelzufluss (-abfluss) von Zahlungsmitteln und Zahlungsmitteläquivalenten	-	-	(17.617)	18.023
			Neun-Monats-Zeitraum 2019 (ungeprüft)	Neun-Monats-Zeitraum 2018 (ungeprüft)	Geschäftsjahr zum 31.12.2018⁽²⁾ (geprüft)	01.01.2018* (geprüft)
		Laufende Geschäftstätigkeit (in Mrd. EUR)				
		Bilanzsumme	1.411,1	1.303,9	1.309,4	1.274,2
		Kundenkredite zu fortgeführten Anschaffungskosten	445,0	433,9	447,2	417,4
		Kundeneinlagen	415,1	411,4	416,8	410,6
		Eigenkapital (in Mrd. EUR)				
		Eigenkapital, Konzernanteil	63,7	61,4	61,0	58,4
		Minderheitenanteile	4,9	4,6	4,8	4,5
		* Die Konzernbilanz betrug insgesamt EUR 1.309 Mrd. zum 31. Dezember 2018 (EUR 1.274 Mrd. zum Januar 2018, EUR 1.275 Mrd. zum 31. Dezember 2017). Bilanzen zum 1. Januar 2018, nach der erstmaligen Anwendung von IFRS 9, außer für Tochtergesellschaften aus dem Versicherungssektor (ungeprüft). ** Diese Finanzkennzahlen sind weder geprüft noch vorbehaltlich einer begrenzten Durchsicht. (1) Bereinigt um außerordentliche Positionen und Linearisierung von IFRIC 21. (2) Die Darstellung der Konzern Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung ist ab 2018 infolge des Übergangs zu IFRS 9 modifiziert: - Erträge und Aufwendungen aus Versicherungstätigkeiten werden in einem spezifischen Bilanzposten innerhalb des „Banknettoeinkommens“ zusammengefasst; - Der Bilanzposten "Nettorisikokosten" ist nun ausschließlich dem Kreditrisiko zugeordnet.				

- (iii) In the section “ZUSAMMENFASSUNG”, Element B.12 on page 41, the item relating to the “Wesentliche Veränderungen bei Finanzlage oder Handelsposition des Emittenten, die nach dem von den historischen Finanzinformationen abgedeckten Zeitraum eingetreten sind” is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

“[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 31. Dezember 2018 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.]"

[Falls die Emittentin die ~~Société Générale~~ oder die SG Issuer ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 30. Juni 2019 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.]

[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 30. September 2019 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.]"

- (iv) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.13 on page 41, the item relating to the "Ereignisse aus der jüngsten Zeit der Geschäftstätigkeit des Emittenten, die für die Bewertung seiner Zahlungsfähigkeit in hohem Maße relevant sind" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added:

B.13	Ereignisse aus der jüngsten Zeit der Geschäftstätigkeit des Emittenten, die für die Bewertung seiner Zahlungsfähigkeit in hohem Maße relevant sind	<u>[Falls die Emittentin Société Générale oder SG Issuer ist:</u> Nicht Anwendbar. Es sind in jüngster Zeit in der Geschäftstätigkeit der Emittentin keine Ereignisse eingetreten, die in erheblichem Maße für die Bewertung der Solvenz der Emittentin relevant sind.] <u>[Falls die Emittentin Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:</u> <u>Am 11. Februar 2019 wurde der Société Générale von der Europäischen Kartellbehörde (der Europäische Kommission) der Kauf des Geschäftsbereichs Equity Markets and Commodities (EMC) der Commerzbank AG genehmigt, der die Emission von und das Market Making für strukturierte Handels- und Investmentprodukte sowie Teile der Vermögensverwaltung wie z.B. das Geschäft für börsengehandelte Fonds (ETFs) umfasst.</u> <u>Aufgrund der Anzahl der zu übertragenden Transaktionen und der Komplexität der jeweiligen Übertragungsprozesse werden jedoch nicht alle Übertragungen im Jahr 2019 abgeschlossen sein und daher im ersten Quartal 2020 übertragen werden.]</u>
------	--	--

- (v) In the section "ZUSAMMENFASSUNG", Element B.17 "Ratings, die für den Emittenten oder seine Schuldtitel erstellt wurden" on page 42 is modified as follows, with provisions deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~:

[B.17	Ratings, die für den Emittenten oder seine Schuldtitel erstellt wurden	[Die Société Générale verfügt über ein Rating von A (high) von DBRS, A von Fitch Ratings, A1 von Moody's Investors Services, A von Rating and Investment Information, Inc. und A von Standard and Poor's.] [Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer oder die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist: Nicht Anwendbar. Der Emittentin wurde kein Rating zugewiesen.] [Nicht Anwendbar] [Den zu begebenden Schuldverschreibungen wurde [k]ein Rating [von] [Rating(s) der begebenen Schuldverschreibungen angeben] [von [Ratingagentur(en) angeben] zugewiesen.]]
-------	--	--

- (vi) In the section "ZUSAMMENFASSUNG", Element D.2 "Zentrale Angaben zu den zentralen Risiken, die dem Emittenten [und dem Garantiegeber] eigen sind" on pages 60 to 62 is modified as follows, with provisions added in blue and underlined and deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~:

D.2	Zentrale Angaben zu den zentralen Risiken, die dem	<u>Die folgenden Kategorien von Risikofaktoren werden identifiziert:</u> Eine Investition in die Schuldverschreibungen beinhaltet gewisse
-----	--	--

	Emittenten [und dem Garantiegeber] eigen sind	Risiken, die vor einer Anlageentscheidung abzuwägen sind. Insbesondere ist die Gruppe den mit ihren Kerngeschäftsbereichen verbundenen Risiken ausgesetzt. Dazu zählen: • Kreditrisiken; • Marktrisiken; • operative Risiken; • strukturelle Zins- und Wechselkursrisiken; • Liquiditätsrisiken; • Non-Compliance-Risiken, Prozessrisiken; und • sonstige Risiken. • <u>Risiken in Bezug auf das makroökonomische, markt- und regulatorische Umfeld</u> Die Globalwirtschaft und Finanzmärkte weisen weiterhin ein hohes Maß an Unsicherheit auf, welches sich wesentlich und negativ auf das Geschäft der Gruppe, die finanzielle Lage und das Betriebsergebnis auswirken kann. Die Ergebnisse der Gruppe können durch das Engagement in den regionalen Märkten nachteilig beeinträchtigt werden. Ein verschärfter Wettbewerb, sowohl durch Banken als auch durch bankenfremde Akteure, könnte sich nachteilig auf die Geschäfte und Ergebnisse der Gruppe auswirken, sowohl auf dem französischen Inlandsmarkt als auch international. <u>Der globale wirtschaftliche und finanzielle Kontext sowie der Kontext der Märkte, in denen die Gruppe tätig ist, kann sich negativ auf die Aktivitäten der Gruppe, ihre finanzielle Lage und das Betriebsergebnis auswirken.</u> Die Gruppe ist in jedem der Länder, in denen sie tätig ist, einem umfangreichen aufsichtsrechtlichen und regulatorischen Rahmenwerk unterworfen. Änderungen dieses regulatorischen Rahmens könnten erhebliche Auswirkungen auf die Geschäftstätigkeit der Gruppe, die Position, Kosten sowie das finanzielle und wirtschaftliche Umfeld haben, in dem die Gruppe tätig ist. Die Gruppe kann in Zeiten von Marktrückgängen niedrigere Erträge aus dem Brokerage- und sonstigen Provisions- und gebührenpflichtigen Geschäften erzielen. Der Brexit und seine Auswirkungen auf die Finanzmärkte und das wirtschaftliche Umfeld könnten sich negativ auf die Aktivitäten und die Ertragslage der Gruppe auswirken <u>beeinträchtigen</u>. <u>Die Gruppe ist in jedem der Länder, in denen sie tätig ist, einem umfangreichen aufsichtsrechtlichen und regulatorischen Rahmenwerk unterworfen. Änderungen dieses regulatorischen Rahmens könnten erhebliche Auswirkungen auf die Geschäftstätigkeit der Gruppe, die finanzielle Lage, Kosten sowie das finanzielle und wirtschaftliche Umfeld haben, in dem die Gruppe tätig ist.</u> Risiken in Bezug auf die Umsetzung des Strategieplans der Gruppe. <u>Ein verschärfter Wettbewerb durch Banken und bankenfremde Akteure könnte sich nachteilig auf die Geschäfte und Ergebnisse der Gruppe auswirken, sowohl auf dem französischen Inlandsmarkt als auch international.</u> • <u>Kredit- und Kontrahentenrisiken</u> Die Gruppe ist dem Risiko ausgesetzt, dass eine Vertragspartei oder eine ganze Gruppe an Kreditnehmer ausfällt, die wesentliche negative Auswirkungen auf die Geschäftstätigkeit sowie die Ertrags- und Finanzlage der Gruppe haben können.
--	--	--

		Die finanzielle Stabilität und das Verhalten anderer Finanzinstitute und Marktteilnehmer könnten nachteilige Auswirkungen auf die Gruppe haben. Die Ertragslage und die Finanzlage der Gruppe könnten durch verspätete oder unzureichende Rückstellungen der Kreditengagements beeinträchtigt werden. Markt- und Strukturrisiken Bei den Handels- und Anlagentätigkeiten der Gruppe besteht das Risiko, dass aufgrund der Volatilität der Finanzmärkte empfindliche Verluste zu verzeichnen sein werden. <u>Veränderungen und Volatilität in den Finanzmärkten könnten das Geschäft der Gruppe und die Ergebnisse von Marktaktivitäten wesentlich beeinträchtigen.</u> Änderungen der Zinssätze können sich negativ auf das Retail-Banking-Geschäft auswirken. Schwankende Wechselkurse könnten die Ergebnisse der Gruppe schmälern. Der langanhaltende Abwärtstrend an den Finanzmärkten oder die zurückgegangene Liquidität in solchen Märkten könnte die Veräußerung von Vermögenswerten erschweren oder zur Bewegung von Handelspositionen führen und erhebliche Verluste für bestimmte Aktivitäten der Gruppe zur Folge haben. Die Absicherungsstrategien der Gruppe können nicht alle Verlustrisiken ausschließen. Operative Risiken (einschließlich des Risikos unangemessenen Verhaltens) und Modellrisiken Die Gruppe ist rechtlichen Risiken ausgesetzt, die sich nachteilig auf ihre Finanz- und Ertragslage <u>wesentlich beeinträchtigen</u> auswirken könnten. Eine operative Störung oder Beendigung des Betriebs oder ein Kapazitätsengpass, der Institute betrifft, mit denen die Gruppe Geschäfte tätigt, oder ein Ausfall der IT-Systeme der Gruppe oder eine hierauf gerichtete Sicherheitsverletzung könnte <u>das Geschäft der Gruppe wesentlich beeinträchtigen und</u> Verluste nach sich ziehen. Die Gruppe kann resultierend aus unvorhergesehenen Ereignissen und Katastrophen, welche auch terroristische Anschläge oder Naturkatastrophen einschließen, Verluste erleiden. Ein Reputationsschaden könnte die Wettbewerbsposition der Gruppe schwächen. Das Risikomanagementsystem der Gruppe, das insbesondere auf Rechenmodellen basiert, ist möglicherweise nicht effektiv und könnte für die Gruppe unerkannte oder unerwartete Risiken bergen, die zu deutlichen Verlusten führen könnten. Die Unfähigkeit der Gruppe, qualifizierte Mitarbeiter zu gewinnen und zu halten sowie die maßgeblichen Änderungen des regulatorischen Rahmens bzgl. Personalmanagementprozessen und Vergütung, könnte wesentliche nachteilige Auswirkungen auf ihre Geschäftsentwicklung haben. <u>Die Modelle, insbesondere die internen Modelle der Gruppe, die bei strategischen Entscheidungsprozessen und Risikomanagementsystemen angewandt werden, könnten versagen oder sich als unangemessen herausstellen und zu finanziellen Verlusten für die Gruppe führen.</u>
--	--	--

		<u>Die Gruppe kann Verluste infolge von unvorhergesehenen Ereignissen oder Katastrophenereignissen, einschließlich terroristischer Angriffe oder Naturkatastrophen, erleiden.</u> Liquiditäts- und Finanzierungsrisiken Von Seiten der Regierungen, Zentralbanken und Aufsichtsbehörden ergriffene außerordentliche Maßnahmen könnten einen wesentlichen negativen Einfluss auf die <u>Finanzierungskosten der Gruppe und deren Zugang zu Liquidität</u> Geschäftstätigkeit sowie die Ertrags- und Finanzlage der Gruppe haben. Die Abhängigkeit der Gruppe von ihrem Zugang zu Finanzmitteln und ihren Liquiditätsengpässen könnte einen wesentlichen negativen Einfluss auf die Geschäfts-, Finanz- und Ertragslage der Gruppe haben. <u>Eine Herabstufung des externen Ratings der Gruppe oder des Länderratings des französischen Staates könnte negative Auswirkungen auf die Finanzierungskosten der Gruppe und deren Zugang zu Liquidität haben.</u> Risiken in Verbindung mit Versicherungsgeschäften Eine Verschlechterung der Marktsituation bedingungen, und insbesondere eine bedeutende Erhöhung oder Senkung der Zinssätze könnte einen wesentlichen negativen Einfluss auf die Lebensversicherungsaktivitäten des Versicherungsgeschäfts der Gruppe haben. [Einfügen, falls es sich bei der Emittentin um die SG Issuer oder die Société Générale Effekten GmbH handelt: Da die Emittentin Teil der Gruppe ist, sind diese Risikofaktoren auf die Emittentin anwendbar.]
--	--	--

"

IV. CHANGES IN SECTION RISK FACTORS

- (i) In the section "RISK FACTORS", the first paragraph on page 69 is corrected whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added:

"Prospective purchasers of Notes should carefully consider the following information in conjunction with other information contained in this Base Prospectus, any Supplement thereto, the 2019 Universal Registration Document of Société Générale, the 2019 Registration Document of SG Issuer and the 2019 Registration Document of Société Générale Effekten GmbH (see the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), other information concerning the Issuers incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms before purchasing Notes."

- (ii) In the section "Risk Factors", paragraph 2.1 "The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses" on pages 70 and 71 is amended with the provisions added in blue and underlined and the provisions deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~ as follows:

"2.1 The Group is exposed to the risks inherent in its core businesses

The following categories of risk factors are identified:

~~Given the diversity and changes in the Group's activities, its risk management focuses on the following main categories of risks, any of which could adversely affect the Group's performance:~~

~~— Credit risks;~~

- ~~— Market risks;~~
- ~~— Operational risks~~
- ~~— Structural rate and exchange risks;~~
- ~~— Liquidity risks;~~
- ~~— Non-compliance risk, litigation; and~~
- ~~— other risks.~~

- **Risks related to the macroeconomic, market and regulatory environments**

The global economic and financial context, as well as the context of the markets in which the Group operates, may adversely affect the Group's activities, financial position and results of operations.

~~The global economy and financial markets continue to display high levels of uncertainty, which may materially and adversely affect the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.~~

~~The Group's results may be adversely affected by regional market exposures.~~

~~Increased competition, by both banking and non-banking actors, is likely to have an adverse effect on the Group's businesses and results, both in its domestic French market and internationally.~~

~~The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses, position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates.~~

~~The Group may generate lower revenues from brokerage and other commission- and fee-based businesses during market downturns.~~

Brexit and its impact on financial markets and the economic environment could have an adverse ~~impact~~effect on the Group's activities and results of operations.

The Group is subject to an extensive supervisory and regulatory framework in each of the countries in which it operates and changes in this regulatory framework could have a significant effect on the Group's businesses, financial position, costs, as well as on the financial and economic environment in which it operates.

Risks related to the implementation of the Group's strategic plan.

Increased competition from banking and non-banking operators could have an adverse effect on the Group's business and results, both in its French domestic market and internationally.

- **Credit and counterparty risks**

The Group is exposed to counterparty and concentration risks, which may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and financial position.

The financial soundness and conduct of other financial institutions and market participants could adversely affect the Group.

The Group's results of operations and financial position could be adversely affected by a late or insufficient provisioning of credit exposures.

- **Market and structural risks**

Changes and volatility in the financial markets may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business and the results of market activities. Changes in interest rates may adversely affect the retail banking activities.

~~The volatility of the financial markets may cause the Group to suffer significant losses on its trading and investment activities.~~

Changes in interest rates may adversely affect ~~the~~ retail banking activities.

Fluctuations in exchange rates could adversely affect the Group's results.

~~The protracted decline of financial markets or reduced liquidity in such markets may make it harder to sell assets or manoeuvre trade positions and could lead to material losses for certain activities of the Group.~~

~~The Group's hedging strategies may not prevent all risk of losses.~~

- **Operational risks (including risk of inappropriate conduct) and models risks**

The Group is exposed to legal risks that could have a material adverse effect on ~~negatively affect~~ its financial position or results of operations.

Operational failure, termination or capacity constraints affecting institutions the Group does business with, or failure or breach of the Group's information technology systems, could have an adverse effect on the Group's business and result in losses and damages to the reputation of the Group.

~~The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters.~~

~~The Group's risk management system, based notably on models, may not be effective and may expose the Group to unidentified or unanticipated risks, which could lead to significant losses.~~

Reputational damage could harm the Group's competitive position.

The Group's inability to attract and retain qualified employees, ~~as well as significant changes in the regulatory framework related to human resources management processes and compensation,~~ may adversely affect its performance.

The models, in particular the Group's internal models, used in strategic decision-making and in risk management systems could fail or prove to be inadequate and result in financial losses for the Group.

The Group may incur losses as a result of unforeseen or catastrophic events, including terrorist attacks or natural disasters.

- **Liquidity and funding risks**

A number of exceptional measures taken by governments, central banks and regulators could have a material adverse effect on the Group's cost of financing and its access to liquidity ~~business, results of operations and financial position.~~

A downgrade in the Group's external rating or in the sovereign rating of the French State could have an adverse effect on the Group's cost of financing and its access to liquidity.

~~The Group's dependence on its access to financing and its liquidity constraints may have a material adverse effect on the Group's business, financial position and results of operations.~~

- **Risks related to insurance activities**

A deterioration in the market conditions~~situation~~, and in particular a significant increase or decrease in interest rates, could have a material adverse effect on the life insurance activities of the Group's Insurance business."

V. CHANGES TO SECTION "DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE"

- (i) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale*" on page 113, the first paragraph is amended with the figure added in blue and underlined and the figure deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~ as follows:

"1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale

To the extent that each of the documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale incorporates itself documents by reference, such documents shall not be deemed incorporated by reference herein. Any reference to documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale shall be deemed to exclude the parts referred to in (i), (ii) and (iii) in the paragraphs 1.1.1 to 1.1.34 below."

- (ii) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale*", paragraph 1.1.2 "*2019 Universal Registration Document*" on page 113 is supplemented whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"1.1.2 2019 Universal Registration Document

The expression "**2019 Universal Registration Document**" means the English version of the *Document d'enregistrement universel* 2019 of Société Générale, the French version of which was filed with the AMF on 05 August 2019 under no. D.19-0738, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the ~~update to the universal~~ registration document and the semi-annual financial report made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, page 171 and (iii) the cross reference tables, pages 173 to 175.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2019 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.2 below."

- (iii) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale*", paragraph 1.1.3 "*First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document*" on page 113 is added as follows:

"1.1.3 First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document

The expression "**First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document**" means the English version of the *Premier Amendement au Document d'enregistrement universel* 2019 of Société Générale, the French version of which was submitted to the AMF on 08 November 2019 under no. D.19-0738-A01, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the first amendment to the universal registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, on page 34 and (iii) the cross-reference table, on pages 36 to 38.

The cross reference table in relation to the First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.3 below."

- (iv) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.1 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale*", paragraph 1.1.4 "*Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document*" on page 113 is added as follows:

"1.1.4 Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document

The expression "**Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document**" means the English version of the *Deuxième Amendement au Document d'enregistrement universel* 2019 of Société Générale, the French version of which was submitted to the AMF on 16 December 2019 under no. D.19-0738-A02, except for (i) the cover page containing the AMF textbox, (ii) the statement of the person responsible for the first amendment to the universal registration document made by Mr. Frédéric Oudéa, Chief Executive Officer of Société Générale, on page 17 and (iii) the cross-reference table, on pages 19 to 21.

The cross reference table in relation to the Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document appears in the paragraph 2.1.4 below."

- (v) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.3 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale Effekten GmbH*", paragraph 1.3.2 "*2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH*" is corrected on page 114 whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted as follows:

"The expression "**2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH**" means the English language version of the registration document dated ~~24~~ 25 June 2019 of Société Générale Effekten GmbH pursuant to section 12 (1) WpPG in connection with Art. 7 and Annex IV of the Regulation approved by the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht (BaFin) on 26 June 2019.

The cross reference table in relation to the ~~2019~~2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH appears in the paragraph 2.3.2 below."

- (vi) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.3 Documents incorporated by reference relating to Société Générale Effekten GmbH*", paragraph 1.3.3 "*2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved)*" is added on page 114 as follows:

"1.3.3 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved)

The expression "**2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved)**" means the English language version of the registration document dated 20 December 2019 of Société Générale Effekten GmbH pursuant to Article 20(1) in connection with Article 10(1) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council in conjunction with Article 7 and Annex 6 of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 approved by the *Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht* (BaFin) on 20 December 2019, except for the section "*VI. INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*" on pages 18-19.

The cross reference table in relation to the First Update of the 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved) appears in the paragraph 2.3.3 below. "

- (vii) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*2.1 Cross reference tables relating to Société Générale*", paragraph "*2.1.3 First Amendment to the Universal Registration Document*", is added on page 116 as follows:

"2.1.3 First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document

Regulation EC 809/2004 of 29 April 2004	First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document
BUSINESS OVERVIEW	
Principal Activities	4-14
TREND INFORMATION	27
FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES OF THE ISSUER	
Interim and other financial information	4-33
Group consolidated results	5-6
The Group's financial structure	7
French retail banking	8-9
International retail banking & financial services	10-11
Global banking & investor solutions	12-13
Corporate centre	14
Group net income after tax by core business	16
Consolidated balance sheet	17
Legal and arbitration proceedings	31-33
MATERIAL CONTRACTS	27

"

- (viii) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection 2.1.4 "Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document" is added on page 116 as follows:

"2.1.4 Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document"

Regulation EC 809/2004 of 29 April 2004	Second Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document
RISK FACTORS	
Risks	5-16
Risks and capital adequacy	5
BUSINESS OVERVIEW	
Investments	3
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT	2
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT	
Board of Directors and general management	4

The information incorporated by reference that is not included in the cross-reference list, is considered as additional information and is not required by the relevant schedules of the Regulation (EC) 809/2004."

- (ix) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "2.3 Cross reference tables relating to Société Générale Effekten GmbH", paragraph "2.3.3 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved)", is added on page 118 as follows:

"2.3.3 2019 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH (Reapproved)"

RISK FACTORS	
Prominent disclosure of risk factors that may affect the issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the securities to investors.	3-7
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER	
History and development of the issuer	11
the legal and commercial name of the issuer;	11
the place of registration of the issuer and its registration number;	11
the date of incorporation of the Issuer;	11
the domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer operates, its country of incorporation, and the address and telephone number of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its registered office).	11
BUSINESS OVERVIEW	
Business Overview	11-13
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE	
If the issuer is part of a group, a brief description of the group and of the issuer's position within it.	13
Whether the issuer is dependent on other entities within the group	13
TREND INFORMATION	
Information on any known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on the Issuer's prospects for at least the current financial year.	15
ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES	
Names, business addresses and functions in the Issuer of the members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies, and an indication of the principal activities performed by them outside the Issuer where these are	13-14

significant with respect to the Issuer.	
Administrative, Management, and Supervisory bodies conflicts of interests.	14
MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS	
To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or indirectly owned or controlled and by whom, and describe the nature of such control, and describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not abused.	11

For the avoidance of doubt, such parts of the document which are not explicitly listed in the table above, are not incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. Information contained in this part is either of no relevance for an investor or covered in other parts of this Prospectus."

VI. CHANGES IN SECTION "FORM OF FINAL TERMS"

- (i) In the section "FORM OF FINAL TERMS", paragraph 11 "*Benchmark Regulation*" / "*Benchmark-Verordnung*" of PART B "*Other Information*" / "*Teil B – Sonstige Angaben*" is modified on page 181 to add the following provisions and table in blue and underlined as follows:

"

13.	BENCHMARK REGULATION	BENCHMARK-VERORDNUNG
	Benchmark:	Benchmark:
	[Not Applicable] [Applicable] [Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated by reference to [•] which is provided by [•]. As at [•], [•][appears/does not appear] on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the "Benchmark Regulation"). [As far as the Issuer is aware, [the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmark Regulation apply, such that [•] is not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.][[•] does not fall within the scope of the Benchmark Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of that regulation.]]	[Nicht Anwendbar] [Anwendbar] [Im Rahmen der Schuldverschreibung zahlbare Beträge werden unter Zugrundelegung von [•] berechnet, der von [•] geliefert wird. Zum [•], [•] [erscheint/erscheint nicht] in dem Register der Administratoren und Referenzwerte, das von der European Securities and Markets Authority gemäß Artikel 36 der Benchmark-Verordnung (Verordnung (EU) 2016/1011) (die Benchmark-Verordnung) erstellt und geführt wird. [Soweit der Emittentin bekannt ist, [gelten die Übergangsbestimmungen in Artikel 51 der Benchmark-Verordnung, so dass [•] gegenwärtig eine Zulassung oder Registrierung nicht erforderlich ist.][[•] fällt nicht in den Anwendungsbereich der Benchmark-Verordnung aufgrund von Artikel 2 dieser Verordnung.]]
	<u>[Amounts payable under the Notes will be calculated by reference to the relevant Benchmark which is provided by the relevant Administrator, as specified in the table below.]</u>	<u>[Im Rahmen der Schuldverschreibungen zahlbare Beträge werden unter Zugrundelegung des maßgeblichen Referenzwerts berechnet, der von dem maßgeblichen Administrator, wie in nachstehender Tabelle angegeben, geliefert wird.]</u>
	<u>As at the date of these Final Terms, the relevant Administrator appears/ does not appear, as the case may be, on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the Benchmark Regulation), as specified in the table below.</u>	<u>Zum Datum dieser Endgültigen Bedingungen erscheint bzw. erscheint nicht in dem Register der Administratoren und Referenzwerte, das gemäß Artikel 36 der Benchmark-Verordnung (Verordnung (EU) 2016/1011) (die "Benchmark-Verordnung") von der Europäischen Wertpapier- und Marktaufsichtsbehörde (ESMA) erstellt und geführt wird, wie in nachstehender Tabelle angegeben.</u>
	<u>If "Does not appear and exempted" is specified in the table below, it means that the relevant Administrator does not fall within the scope of the Benchmark Regulation by virtue of Article 2 of that regulation.</u>	<u>Falls "Erscheint nicht und ist ausgenommen" in der nachstehenden Tabelle angegeben ist, bedeutet dies, dass der maßgebliche Administrator nicht in den Anwendungsbereich der Benchmark-Verordnung gemäß Artikel 2 dieser Verordnung fällt.</u>

	If "Does not appear and non-exempted" is specified in the table below, it means that, as far as the Issuer is aware, the transitional provisions in Article 51 of the Benchmark Regulation apply, such that the relevant Administrator is not currently required to obtain authorisation or registration.			Falls "Erscheint nicht und ist nicht ausgenommen" in der nachstehenden Tabelle angegeben ist, bedeutet dies, dass, soweit es der Emittentin bekannt ist, die Übergangsbestimmungen des Artikels 51 der Benchmark-Verordnung anwendbar sind, so dass der maßgebliche Administrator gegenwärtig nicht verpflichtet ist, eine Zulassung oder Registrierung zu erlangen.		
	[For the following table, add as many lines as necessary]			[Der nachstehenden Tabelle ist die erforderliche Anzahl an Zeilen hinzuzufügen]		
	<u>Benchmark</u>	<u>Administrator</u>	<u>Register</u>	<u>Benchmark</u>	<u>Administrator</u>	<u>Register</u>
	[Insert the name of Benchmark]	[Insert the name of Administrator]	[Appears] [Does not appear and exempted] [Does not appear and non-exempted]]	[Name der Benchmark einfügen]	[Name des Administrators einfügen]	[Erscheint] [Erscheint nicht und ist ausgenommen] [Erscheint nicht und ist nicht ausgenommen]]

"

- (ii) In the section "FORM OF FINAL TERMS", the "Annex for Credit Linked Notes" / "Anhang für Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen", in the table relating to "Credit Events and related options" / "Kreditereignisse und dazugehörige Wahlmöglichkeiten", is modified on page 184 with "Credit Deterioration Requirement" and "Fallback Discounting" added in blue and underlined as follows:

"

Credit Events and related options	[Insert Transaction Type]	Kreditereignisse und dazugehörige Wahlmöglichkeiten	[Geschäftsart einfügen]
Bankruptcy /	[X]	Insolvenz	[X]
Failure to Pay	[X]	Nichtzahlung	[X]
Grace Period Extension	[X]	Nachfristverlängerung	[X]
Notice of Publicly Available Information	[X]	Mitteilung über Öffentlich Verfügbare Informationen	[X]
Payment Requirement	[[X] (USD 1,000,000)] [[X] (●)]	Zahlungsschwellenbetrag	[[X] (USD 1.000.000)] [[X] (●)]
Obligation Default	[X]	Ausfall	[X]
Obligation Acceleration	[X]	Vorzeitige Fälligkeit	[X]
Repudiation/Moratorium	[X]	Nichtanerkennung/ Moratorium	[X]
Restructuring	[X]	Restrukturierung	[X]
[Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Fully Transferable Obligation] [Mod R]	[X]	[Restrukturierungslaufzeitbegrenzung und Vollumfänglich Übertragbare Verbindlichkeit] [Mod R]	[X]
[Modified Restructuring Maturity Limitation and Conditionally Transferable Obligation] [Mod Mod R]	[X]	[Modifizierte Restrukturierungslaufzeitbegrenzung und Bedingt Übertragbare Verbindlichkeit] [Mod Mod R]	[X]
Multiple Holder Obligation	[X]	Mehreren Inhabern Zustehende Verbindlichkeit	[X]

Default Requirement	[[X] (USD 10,000,000)] [[X] (€)]	Pflichtverletzungs- Schwellenbetrag	[[X] (USD 10.000.000)] [[X] (€)]
All Guarantees	[X]	Alle Garantien	[X]
[Governmental Intervention]	[X]	[Staatliche Intervention]	[X]
[Financial Reference Entity Terms]	[X]	[Finanzielle Bedingungen des Referenzschuldners]	[X]
[Subordinated European Insurance Terms]	[X]	[Nachrangige Europäische Versicherungs- bedingungen]	[X]
[2014 Coco Supplement]	[X]	[CoCo-Nachtrag von 2014]	[X]
[No Asset Package Delivery]	[X]	[Keine Lieferung von Vermögenseinheiten]	[X]
[Senior Non-Preferred Supplement]	[X]	[Nicht nachrangiger Nicht – Bevorrechtigter Nachtrag]	[X]
<u>[Credit Deterioration Requirement]</u>	<u>[X]</u>	<u>[Erfordernis der Bonitätsverschlechterung]</u>	<u>[X]</u>
<u>[Fallback Discounting]</u>	<u>[X]</u>	<u>[Ersatz-Diskontierung]</u>	<u>[X]</u>
[Business Days (for the purposes of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes)]	[Specify for the purposes of Condition 2 of the Additional Terms and Conditions for Credit Linked Notes]	Geschäftstage (für die Zwecke der Zusätzlichen Emissionsbedingungen für Kreditereignisbezogene Schuldverschreibungen)]	[Für die Zwecke von Bedingung 2 der Zusätzlichen Emissions- bedingungen für Kredit- ereignisbezogene Schuld- verschreibungen angeben]

VII. CHANGES IN SECTION " TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW NOTES"

- (i) In section "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS" / "EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN DER DEUTSCHRECHTLICHEN FAKTOR- UND PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE", Condition 20 "Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers" / "Anerkennung der Bail-In- und Abschreibungs- oder Umwandlungsbefugnisse" on pages 287 to 290 is modified whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

20.	Acknowledgement of Bail-In and Write-Down or Conversion Powers	Anerkennung der Bail-In- und Abschreibungs- oder Umwandlungsbefugnisse
20.1	Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers on the relevant Issuer's Liabilities and of the write-down and conversion of Notes of [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] following the bail-in and write-down and conversion of some Société Générale's Liabilities	Anerkennung der Bail-in- und Abschreibungs- oder Umwandlungsbefugnisse auf die Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin sowie der Abschreibung und Umwandlung von Schuldverschreibungen der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] nach dem Bail-In und der Abschreibung und Umwandlung von einigen Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale.
	By the acquisition of Notes, each Noteholder (which, for the purposes of this Condition 20.1, includes any current or future holder of a beneficial interest in the Notes) acknowledges, accepts, consents and agrees:	Mit dem Erwerb der Schuldverschreibungen erkennt jeder Schuldverschreibungsinhaber (wobei zu Zwecken dieser Bedingung 20.1 dieser Begriff jeden gegenwärtigen oder zukünftigen Inhaber von Nutzungsrechten an den Schuldverschreibungen umfasst) an, akzeptiert, willigt ein und stimmt zu,

	(1) to be bound by the effect of the exercise of the Bail-in Power (as defined below) by the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) on the relevant Issuer's liabilities under the Notes, which may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof:	(1) an die Wirkung der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis (wie nachstehend definiert) durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde (wie nachstehend definiert) auf die Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin unter den Schuldverschreibungen gebunden zu sein, was möglicherweise Folgendes umfasst und zu Folgendem (oder einer Kombination dessen) führen kann:
	(i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due (as defined below), on a permanent basis;	(i) die dauerhafte Herabsetzung aller, oder eines Teils der Fälligen Beträge (wie nachstehend definiert);
	(ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due into shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person (and the issue to the Noteholder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the terms of the Notes, in which case the Noteholder agrees to accept in lieu of its rights under the Notes any such shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person;	(ii) die Umwandlung aller, oder eines Teils, der Fälligen Beträge in Aktien, andere Wertpapiere oder andere Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person (und die Ausgabe dieser Aktien, Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten an die Schuldverschreibungsinhaber), unter anderem mittels Ergänzung, Modifizierung oder Abwandlung der Bedingungen der Schuldverschreibungen; in diesem Fall akzeptiert der Schuldverschreibungsinhaber solche Aktien, andere Wertpapiere oder andere Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person an Stelle seiner Rechte aus den Schuldverschreibungen.
	(iii) the cancellation of the Notes; and/or	(iii) die Stornierung der Schuldverschreibungen; und/oder
	(iv) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Notes or amendment of the amount of interest payable on the Notes, or the date on which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and	(iv) die Ergänzung oder Änderung der Fälligkeit der Schuldverschreibungen oder die Änderung des Betrags der auf die Schuldverschreibungen zahlbaren Zinsen, oder des Tags, an dem die Zinsen zahlbar werden, unter anderem durch vorübergehende Aussetzung der Zahlung; und
	that terms of the Notes are subject to, and may be varied, if necessary, to give effect to the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority or the Regulator.	dass die Bedingungen der Schuldverschreibungen der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde oder Aufsichtsbehörde unterliegen und, falls erforderlich, geändert werden können, um der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde oder Aufsichtsbehörde Wirkung zu verleihen
	(the " Statutory Bail-in ")	(der " Gesetzliche Bail-in ")
	and	und
	(2) in respect of Notes issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer], if the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) exercises its Bail-in Power (as defined below) on liabilities of Société Générale, pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I-3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code (the " M&F Code "):	(2) bei von der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] begebenen Schuldverschreibungen, wenn die Zuständige Abwicklungsbehörde (wie nachstehend definiert) ihre Bail-in-Befugnis (wie nachstehend definiert) in Bezug auf Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Artikel L613-30-3-I-3 des französischen Währungs- und Finanzgesetzbuchs (<i>Code monétaire et financier</i> , CMF) ausübt:
	(A) ranking:	(A) die im Rang:
	(i) junior to liabilities of Société Générale benefitting from statutory	(i) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale, denen aufgrund gesetz-

	preferred exceptions pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I 1° and 2 of the M&F Code;	lich vorgesehener Ausnahmen gemäß Artikel L 613-30-3-I 1° und 2 des CMF ein Vorrang eingeräumt wird, nachgeordnet sind;
	(ii) pari passu with liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-3 of the M&F Code; and	(ii) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Definition in Artikel L.613-30-3-I-3 des CMF gleichwertig sind und
	(iii) senior to liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-4 of the M&F Code; and	(iii) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Definition in Artikel L.613-30-3-I-4 des CMF vorgeordnet sind; und
	(B) which are not titres non structures as defined under Article R.613-28 of the M&F Code, and	(B) bei denen es sich nicht um titres non structurés im Sinne von Artikel R.613-28 des CMF handelt und
	(C) which are not or are no longer eligible to be taken into account for the purposes of the MREL (as defined below) ratio of Société Générale	(C) die für die Zwecke der MREL-Quote (wie nachstehend definiert) der Société Générale nicht oder nicht mehr berücksichtigungsfähig sind,
	and such exercise of the Bail-in Power results in the write-down or cancellation of all, or a portion of, the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, and/or interest on, such liabilities, and/or the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, or interest on, such liabilities into shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person, including by means of variation to their terms and conditions in order to give effect to such exercise of Bail-in Power, to be bound by the limitation of then [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] obligations to the Noteholders under the Notes (other than Secured Notes) <u>will be limited</u> to (i) payment of the amounts of principal and/or interest as reduced or cancelled that would be recoverable by the Noteholders and/or (ii) the delivery or the payment of value of the shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person that would be paid or delivered to the Noteholders <u>as</u> if, in either case, the Notes had been directly issued by Société Générale itself, and <u>as if</u> any Amount Due under the Notes had accordingly been directly subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power (the "Contractual Bail-in").	und diese Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis zur vollständigen oder teilweisen Herabschreibung oder Löschung des Nennwerts oder des ausstehenden Restbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten und/oder darauf anfallender Zinsen und/oder zur vollständigen oder teilweisen Umwandlung des Nennwerts oder des ausstehenden Restbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten oder darauf anfallender Zinsen in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder sonstige Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person führt (wozu auch die Änderung ihrer Geschäftsbedingungen gehört, um diese Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis wirksam werden zu lassen), an die Einschränkung so werden die der Verpflichtungen der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] gegenüber den Schuldverschreibungsinhabern aus den Schuldverschreibungen (mit Ausnahme Besicherter Schuldverschreibungen) <u>beschränkt sein auf</u> (i) zur <u>die</u> Zahlung der verminderten oder gelöschten Kapital- und/oder Zinsbeträge, die von den Schuldverschreibungsinhabern erzielbar wären, und/oder (ii) zur <u>die</u> Lieferung oder Zahlung des Werts der Aktien oder anderen Wertpapiere oder sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person, der an die Schuldverschreibungsinhaber gezahlt oder geliefert würde, wenn als ob <u>als ob</u> die Schuldverschreibungen jeweils direkt von der Société Générale begeben worden wären und <u>als ob</u> Fällige Beträge aus den Schuldverschreibungen folglich direkt von der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis betroffen gewesen wären (der "Vertragliche Bail-In"), gebunden zu sein .
	For the purpose of this Condition 20:	Zu Zwecken dieser Bedingung 20:
	Amounts Due means the prevailing outstanding amount of the Notes issued by the relevant Issuer, and any accrued and unpaid interest on such Notes that has not been previously cancelled or otherwise is no longer due.	Fällige Beträge bezeichnet den aktuellen ausstehenden Betrag der von der maßgeblichen Emittentin begebenen Schuldverschreibungen sowie alle aufgelaufenen und nicht gezahlten Zinsen auf die Schuldverschreibungen, der nicht zuvor annulliert oder in anderer Weise nicht länger fällig ist.
	Bail-in Power means any statutory cancellation,	Bail-in-Befugnis bezeichnet eine jeweils

	write down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms, including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.	bestehende gesetzliche Lösungs-, Herabschreibungs- und/oder Umwandlungsbefugnis aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen in Bezug auf die Sanierung von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen, insbesondere aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen, die im Zusammenhang mit einer EU-Richtlinie oder EU-Verordnung des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen oder anderen anwendbaren Gesetzen oder Vorschriften in der jeweils geltenden Fassung oder anderen Bestimmungen, nach denen die Verbindlichkeiten von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen oder deren verbundenen Unternehmen herabgeschrieben, gelöscht und/oder in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten des Schuldners oder einer anderen Person umgewandelt werden können, umgesetzt, beschlossen oder verabschiedet werden.
	MREL means the Minimum Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities as defined in Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (as amended from time to time).	MREL bezeichnet die Mindestanforderung an Eigenmittel und berücksichtigungsfähige Verbindlichkeiten gemäß Definition in der Richtlinie 2014/59/EU des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 15. Mai 2014 zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen (in der jeweils geltenden Fassung).
	Relevant Resolution Authority means any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power on Société Générale or [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] as the case may be.	Zuständige Abwicklungsbehörde bezeichnet eine Behörde, die die Bail-in-Befugnis gegenüber der Société Générale oder [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] ausüben kann.
20.2	Consequences of the Statutory Bail-in and Contractual Bail-in.	Folgen des Gesetzlichen Bail-in und des Vertraglichen Bail-in.
	No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in with respect to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor unless, at the time such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor under the applicable laws and regulations in effect in France or Luxembourg and the European Union applicable to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or other members of its group.	Nach der Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin wird keine Rückzahlung oder Zahlung der Fälligen Beträge fällig und zahlbar bzw. wird keine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung geleistet, es sei denn, zu dem Zeitpunkt, an dem die Fälligkeit einer solchen Rückzahlung bzw. Zahlung vorgesehen ist, wäre eine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin nach den in Frankreich oder Luxemburg und der Europäischen Union geltenden Gesetzen und Verordnungen, die auf die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin oder andere Mitglieder ihrer Gruppe anwendbar sind, zulässig.
	No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid under the Notes issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] after implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.	Nach der Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in wird aus den von der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] begebenen Schuldverschreibungen keine Rückzahlung oder Zahlung der Fälligen Beträge fällig und zahlbar bzw. wird keine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung geleistet.
	Upon the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or upon implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to the Notes, the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will provide a written notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 as soon as practicable regarding such exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in. The	Bei Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder bei Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die Schuldverschreibungen wird die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin den Schuldverschreibungsinhaber so bald wie möglich diese Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-In gemäß Bedingung 12 schriftlich

	relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will also deliver a copy of such notice to the Fiscal Agent for informational purposes, although the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to send such notice to Noteholders. Any delay or failure by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to give notice shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the Statutory Bail-in or Contractual Bail-in nor the effects on the Notes described above.	mitteilen. Die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin wird zudem eine Kopie dieser Mitteilung der Emissionsstelle zu Informationszwecken übermitteln, die Emissionsstelle hingegen ist nicht verpflichtet, eine solche Mitteilung an die Schuldverschreibungsinhaber zu senden. Ein Verzug bzw. eine Unterlassung durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin, eine solche Mitteilung abzugeben, beeinträchtigt weder nicht die Gültigkeit und Durchsetzbarkeit des Gesetzlichen Bail-in bzw. des Vertraglichen Bail-in noch die vorstehend beschriebenen Auswirkungen auf die Schuldverschreibungen.
	Neither a cancellation of the Notes, a reduction, in part or in full, of the Amounts Due, the conversion thereof into another security or obligation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person, as a result of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to Notes will be an event of default or otherwise constitute non-performance of a contractual obligation, or entitle the Noteholder to any remedies (including equitable remedies) which are hereby expressly waived.	Weder die Annullierung der Schuldverschreibungen, noch eine Herabschreibung, teilweise oder insgesamt, der Fälligen Beträge, eine Umwandlung dieser in andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person infolge einer Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die Schuldverschreibungen ist ein Kündigungsereignis oder stellt anderweitig eine Nichterfüllung einer vertraglichen Verpflichtung dar, oder berechtigt den Schuldverschreibungsinhaber zur Einlegung von Rechtsmitteln (einschließlich billigkeitsrechtliche Rechtsmittel), auf die hiermit ausdrücklich verzichtet wird.
	Upon the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and each Noteholder (including each holder of a beneficial interest in the Notes) hereby agree that (a) the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to take any directions from Noteholders, and (b) the Agency Agreement shall impose no duties upon the Fiscal Agent whatsoever, in each case with respect to the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.	Bei Ausübung eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder bei Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in stimmen die maßgebliche Emittentin, die Garantin und jeder Schuldverschreibungsinhaber (einschließlich jeder Inhaber von Nutzungsrechten an den Schuldverschreibungen) hiermit überein, dass (a) die Emissionsstelle keinem Weisungsrecht der Schuldverschreibungsinhaber unterliegt und (b) der Zahlstellenvertrag der Emissionsstelle keine Pflichten irgendwelcher Art auferlegt, in jedem Fall im Hinblick auf die Ausübung eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in.
	Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, following the completion of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, any Notes remain outstanding (for example, if the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in results in only a partial write-down of the principal of the Notes), then the Fiscal Agent's duties under the Agency Agreement shall remain applicable with respect to the Notes following such completion to the extent that the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent shall agree pursuant to an amendment to the Agency Agreement.	Ungeachtet des Vorstehenden, falls nach Abschluss der Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder der Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in, Schuldverschreibungen weiterhin ausstehend sind (zum Beispiel, falls die Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in nur zu einer Teilabschreibung des Kapitals der Schuldverschreibungen führt), so gelten die Pflichten der Emissionsstelle unter dem Zahlstellenvertrag im Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen nach diesem Abschluss fort und zwar in dem Maße, wie die maßgebliche Emittentin, die Garantin und die Emissionsstelle dies gemäß einer Ergänzung zum Verwaltungsstellenvertrag vereinbaren.
	If in a Statutory Bail-In the Relevant Resolution Authority exercises the Bail-in Power or if the Contractual Bail-in is implemented, with respect to less than the total Amounts Due, unless the Fiscal Agent is otherwise instructed by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or, as the case may be, the Relevant Resolution Authority, any cancellation, write-off or conversion made in respect of the Notes will be (in the case of a Contractual Bail-In) or may be (in the case of a Statutory Bail-in) made on a pro-rata basis.	Falls bei einem Gesetzlichen Bail-in die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde die Bail-in-Befugnis (oder falls der Vertragliche Bail-in umgesetzt wird) nicht im Hinblick auf die gesamten fälligen Beträge ausübt, erfolgt (im Falle eines Vertraglichen Bail-in) jede Annullierung, Herabschreibung oder Umwandlung im Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen anteilmäßig oder (im Falle eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in) kann jede Annullierung, Herabschreibung oder Umwandlung im Hinblick auf die Schuldverschreibungen anteilmäßig erfolgen, sofern die Emissionsstelle nicht anderweitig durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin bzw. die

		Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde angewiesen ist.
	The matters set forth in this Condition 20 shall be exhaustive on the foregoing matters to the exclusion of any other agreements, arrangements or understandings between the Issuer, the Guarantor and each Noteholder.	Die in dieser Bedingung 20 dargelegten Angelegenheiten sind abschließend in Bezug auf die vorstehenden Angelegenheiten unter Ausschluss anderer Verträge, Vereinbarungen oder Abreden zwischen der Emittentin, der Garantin und jedem Schuldverschreibungsinhaber.
	No expenses necessary for the procedures under this Condition 20, including, but not limited to, those incurred by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent, shall be borne by any Noteholder.	Schuldverschreibungsinhaber tragen keine für die Verfahren unter dieser Bedingung 20 notwendigen Aufwendungen, einschließlich, jedoch nicht beschränkt auf, die Aufwendungen, die der maßgeblichen Emittentin, der Garantin und der Emissionsstelle entstehen.
	For the purpose of this Condition 20:	Zu Zwecken dieser Bedingung 20:
	<u>Amounts Due</u> means the prevailing outstanding amounts of the Notes issued by the relevant Issuer, and any accrued and unpaid interest on such Notes that have not been previously cancelled or otherwise are no longer due.	<u>Fällige Beträge</u> bezeichnet die aktuellen ausstehenden Beträge der von der maßgeblichen Emittentin begebenen Schuldverschreibungen sowie alle aufgelaufenen und nicht gezahlten Zinsen auf die Schuldverschreibungen, die nicht zuvor annulliert wurden oder in anderer Weise nicht länger fällig sind.
	<u>Bail-in Power</u> means any statutory cancellation, write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms, including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.	<u>Bail-in-Befugnis</u> bezeichnet eine jeweils bestehende gesetzliche Löschungs-, Herabschreibungs- und/oder Umwandlungsbefugnis aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen in Bezug auf die Sanierung von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen, insbesondere aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen, die im Zusammenhang mit einer EU-Richtlinie oder EU-Verordnung des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen oder anderen anwendbaren Gesetzen oder Vorschriften in der jeweils geltenden Fassung oder anderen Bestimmungen, nach denen die Verbindlichkeiten von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen oder deren verbundenen Unternehmen herabgeschrieben, gelöscht und/oder in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten des Schuldners oder einer anderen Person umgewandelt werden können, umgesetzt, beschlossen oder verabschiedet werden.
	<u>MREL</u> means the Minimum Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities as defined in Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (as amended from time to time).	<u>MREL</u> bezeichnet die Mindestanforderung an Eigenmittel und berücksichtigungsfähige Verbindlichkeiten gemäß Definition in der Richtlinie 2014/59/EU des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 15. Mai 2014 zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen (in der jeweils geltenden Fassung).
	<u>Relevant Resolution Authority</u> means any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power on Société Générale or [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] as the case may be.	<u>Zuständige Abwicklungsbehörde</u> bezeichnet eine Behörde, die die Bail-in-Befugnis gegenüber der Société Générale oder [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] ausüben kann.

11

VIII. CHANGES IN SECTION "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES"

- (i) In section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES" / "ZUSÄTZLICHE EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN FÜR KREDITEREIGNISBEZOGENE SCHULDVERSCHREIBUNGEN", the definition of "Failure to Pay" in Condition 2.3 "Additional definitions applicable if the applicable Final Terms specify that "PART B (2014 definitions)" is "Applicable" on page 783 is modified as follows, with provisions added in blue and underlined:

	Failure to Pay { XE "Failure to Pay" } means, after the expiration of any applicable Grace Period (after the satisfaction of any conditions precedent to the commencement of such Grace Period), the failure by a Reference Entity to make, when and where due, any payments in an aggregate amount of not less than the Payment Requirement under one or more Obligations, in accordance with the terms of such Obligations at the time of such failure.	Nichtzahlung { XE "Nichtzahlung (Failure to Pay)" } (Failure to Pay) bezeichnet nach Ablauf einer anwendbaren Nachfrist (nach Erfüllung etwaiger aufschiebender Bedingungen für den Beginn einer solchen Nachfrist) das Versäumnis eines Referenzschuldners, Zahlungen auf eine oder mehrere Verbindlichkeit(en) bei Fälligkeit und am Erfüllungsort gemäß den zum Zeitpunkt der Unterlassung geltenden Bedingungen der betreffenden Verbindlichkeiten zu leisten, deren Gesamtbetrag mindestens dem Zahlungsschwellenbetrag entspricht.
	<u>For Notes issued on or after 27 January 2020, if "Credit Deterioration Requirement" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then, notwithstanding the foregoing, it shall not constitute a Failure to Pay if such failure does not directly or indirectly either result from, or result in, a deterioration in the creditworthiness or financial condition of the Reference Entity.</u>	<u>Für Schuldverschreibungen, die am oder nach dem 27. Januar 2020 begeben werden, gilt ungeachtet des Vorstehenden, sofern "Erfordernis der Bonitätsverschlechterung" in den anwendbaren Endgültigen Bedingungen als anwendbar angegeben ist, dass keine Nichtzahlung vorliegt, wenn dieses Versäumnis nicht direkt oder indirekt aus einer Verschlechterung der Bonität oder der finanziellen Situation des Referenzschuldners resultiert bzw. nicht direkt oder indirekt zu einer Verschlechterung der Bonität oder der finanziellen Situation des Referenzschuldners führt.</u>
	If an occurrence that would constitute a Failure to Pay (a) is a result of a redenomination that occurs as a result of action taken by a Governmental Authority which is of general application in the jurisdiction of such Governmental Authority and (b) a freely available market rate of conversion existed at the time of the redenomination, then such occurrence will be deemed not to constitute a Failure to Pay unless the redenomination itself constituted a reduction in the rate or amount of interest, principal or premium payable (as determined by reference to such freely available market rate of conversion) at the time of such redenomination.	Falls ein Eintritt, der eine Nichtzahlung darstellen würde, (a) die Folge einer Währungsumstellung ist, die wiederum auf eine von einer Staatlichen Stelle ergriffene Maßnahme zurückzuführen ist, die in der Jurisdiktion dieser Staatlichen Stelle allgemein anwendbar ist, und (b) zum Zeitpunkt der Währungsumstellung ein frei verfügbarer Kurs für die Umrechnung existierte, gilt dieser Eintritt nicht als Nichtzahlung, es sei denn, die Währungsumstellung selbst stellte zum Zeitpunkt dieser Währungsumstellung eine Verringerung des zahlbaren Zins-, Kapital- oder Prämienatzes oder -betrags dar (wie unter Bezugnahme auf diesen frei verfügbaren Kurs für die Umrechnung bestimmt).

- (ii) In section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CREDIT LINKED NOTES" / "ZUSÄTZLICHE EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN FÜR KREDITEREIGNISBEZOGENE SCHULDVERSCHREIBUNGEN", the definition of "Outstanding Principal Balance" in Condition 2.3 "Additional definitions applicable if the applicable Final Terms specify that "PART B (2014 definitions)" is "Applicable" on page 793 is modified as follows, with provisions added in blue and underlined:

	Outstanding Principal Balance { XE "Outstanding Principal Balance" } means the "Outstanding Principal Balance" of an obligation calculated as follows:	Ausstehender Kapitalbetrag { XE "Ausstehender Kapitalbetrag (Outstanding Principal Balance)" } (Outstanding Principal Balance) bezeichnet den „Ausstehenden Kapitalbetrag“ einer Verbindlichkeit, der wie folgt berechnet wird:
	(i) first, by determining, in respect of the	(i) erstens durch Ermittlung des Betrags der

	obligation, the amount of the Reference Entity's principal payment obligations and, where applicable in accordance with the definition of Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest, the Reference Entity's accrued but unpaid interest payment obligations which, in the case of a Guarantee will be the lower of (A) the Outstanding Principal Balance (including accrued but unpaid interest, where applicable) of the Underlying Obligation (determined as if references to the Reference Entity were references to the Underlying Obligor) and (B) the amount of the Fixed Cap, if any;	geschuldeten Kapitalzahlungen des Referenzschuldners in Bezug auf die Verbindlichkeit und gegebenenfalls der Zahlungsverpflichtungen des Referenzschuldners aus aufgelaufenen, jedoch nicht gezahlten Zinsen gemäß der Begriffsbestimmung von „Aufgelaufene Zinsen auf Lieferbare/Ausgewählte Verbindlichkeiten (Deliverable/Selected Obligation Accrued Interest)“, die im Fall einer Garantie dem niedrigeren der beiden folgenden Beträge entsprechen: (A) dem Ausstehenden Kapitalbetrag (gegebenenfalls einschließlich aufgelaufener, aber nicht gezahlter Zinsen) der Zugrunde Liegenden Verbindlichkeit (der so bestimmt wird, als seien Bezugnahmen auf den Referenzschuldner Bezugnahmen auf den Zugrunde Liegenden Schuldner) und (B) dem Betrag einer etwaigen Festen Obergrenze;
	(ii) second, by subtracting all or any portion of such amount which, pursuant to the terms of the obligation (A) is subject to any Prohibited Action or (B) may otherwise be reduced as a result of the effluxion of time or the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event or circumstance (other than by way of (I) payment or (II) a Permitted Contingency) (the amount determined in (i) less any amounts subtracted in accordance with (ii), the “Non-Contingent Amount”); and	(ii) zweitens durch Subtrahieren des gesamten oder eines Teils dieses Betrags, der gemäß den Bedingungen der Verbindlichkeit (A) Gegenstand einer Unerlaubten Handlung ist oder (B) anderweitig aufgrund des Zeitablaufs oder des Eintritts oder Nichteintritts eines Ereignisses oder Umstands (außer infolge (I) einer Zahlung oder (II) einer Zulässigen Bedingten Reduzierung) abgezogen werden kann (der in Unterabsatz (i) bestimmte Betrag, abzüglich etwaiger gemäß Unterabsatz (ii) subtrahierter Beträge der „ Nicht Bedingte Betrag “); und
	(iii) third, by determining the Quantum of the Claim, which shall then constitute the Outstanding Principal Balance.	(iii) drittens durch Bestimmung des Mindestanspruchs, der in diesem Fall den Ausstehenden Kapitalbetrag darstellt,
	in each case, determined;	jeweils wie folgt bestimmt:
	(A) unless otherwise specified, in accordance with the terms of the obligation in effect on the date selected by the Calculation Agent by reference to any Hedge Positions; and	(A) sofern nicht etwas anderes angegeben ist, gemäß den an dem Tag, der von der Berechnungsstelle unter Bezugnahme auf Absicherungspositionen ausgewählt wird, geltenden Bedingungen der Verbindlichkeit; und
	(B) with respect to the Quantum of the Claim only, in accordance with any applicable laws (insofar as such laws reduce or discount the size of the claim to reflect the original issue price or accrued value of the obligation).	(B) lediglich in Bezug auf den Mindestanspruch nach Maßgabe des anwendbaren Rechts (soweit durch diese Rechtsvorschriften die Höhe des Anspruchs reduziert oder ein Abschlag darauf vorgenommen wird, um den ursprünglichen Emissionspreis bzw. den aufgelaufenen Wert der Verbindlichkeit zu berücksichtigen).
	Where "applicable laws" shall include any bankruptcy or insolvency law or other law affecting creditors' rights to which the relevant obligation is, or may become, subject.	Wobei "anwendbares Recht" Insolvenz- oder Konkursrecht oder sonstige vergleichbare Gesetze umfasst, die Gläubigerrechte, denen die maßgebliche Verpflichtung unterliegt oder unterliegen wird, betreffen.
	Where:	Dabei gilt:
	Quantum of the Claim means the lowest amount of the claim which could be validly asserted against the Reference Entity in respect of the Non-Contingent Amount if the obligation had become redeemable, been accelerated, terminated or had otherwise become due and payable at the time of the relevant determination, provided that the Quantum of the Claim cannot exceed the	Mindestanspruch (<i>Quantum of the Claim</i>) bezeichnet den niedrigsten Betrag der Forderung, der gegenüber dem Referenzschuldner im Hinblick auf den Nicht Bedingten Betrag der Verbindlichkeit wirksam geltend gemacht werden könnte, wenn die Verbindlichkeit zum Zeitpunkt der maßgeblichen Feststellung rückzahlbar, vorzeitig fällig gestellt oder gekündigt worden wäre oder anderweitig

	Non-Contingent Amount.	fällig und zahlbar geworden wäre, wobei der Mindestanspruch den Nicht Bedingten Betrag nicht übersteigen kann.
	<u>For Notes issued on or after 27 January 2020, if "Fallback Discounting" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then notwithstanding the above, if (i) the Outstanding Principal Balance of an obligation is not reduced or discounted under (iii)(B) above, (ii) that obligation is either a Bond that has an issue price less than ninety-five per cent of the principal redemption amount or a Loan where the amount advanced is less than ninety-five per cent of the principal repayment amount, and (iii) such Bond or Loan does not include provisions relating to the accretion over time of the amount which would be payable on an early redemption or repayment of such Bond or Loan that are customary for the applicable type of Bond or Loan as the case may be, then the Outstanding Principal Balance of such Bond or Loan shall be the lesser of (a) the Non-Contingent Amount; and (b) an amount determined by straight line interpolation between the issue price of the Bond or the amount advanced under the Loan and the principal redemption amount or principal repayment amount, as applicable.</u>	<u>Für Schuldverschreibungen, die am oder nach dem 27. Januar 2020 begeben werden, gilt ungeachtet des Vorstehenden, sofern "Ersatz-Diskontierung" in den anwendbaren Endgültigen Bedingungen als anwendbar angegeben ist, wenn (i) der Ausstehende Kapitalbetrag einer Verbindlichkeit nicht gemäß (iii)(B) reduziert oder ein Abschlag darauf vorgenommen wird, (ii) diese Verbindlichkeit entweder eine Anleihe mit einem Emissionspreis von weniger als fünfundneunzig Prozent des Gesamtrückzahlungsbetrags oder ein Darlehen ist, bei dem der Vorschussbetrag geringer ist als fünfundneunzig Prozent des Gesamtrückzahlungsbetrags, und (iii) diese Anleihe bzw. dieses Darlehen keine Bestimmungen bezüglich eines Wertzuwachses im Zeitablauf des Betrags enthält, der bei einer vorzeitigen Rückzahlung dieser Anleihe bzw. dieses Darlehens zahlbar wäre, die für die anwendbare Art von Anleihe bzw. Darlehen üblich sind, so ist der Ausstehende Kapitalbetrag dieser Anleihe bzw. dieses Darlehens der geringere (a) des Nicht Bedingten Betrags und (b) eines Betrags, der durch lineare Interpolation zwischen dem Emissionspreis der Anleihe und dem Vorschussbetrag unter dem Darlehen und dem Gesamtrückzahlungsbetrag, wie jeweils anwendbar, ermittelt wird.</u>
	<u>For the purposes of determining whether the issue price of a Bond or the amount advanced under a Loan is less than ninety-five per cent of the principal redemption amount or principal repayment amount (as applicable) or, where applicable, for applying straight line interpolation:</u>	<u>Zu Zwecken der Ermittlung, ob der Emissionspreis einer Anleihe oder der Vorschussbetrag unter einem Darlehen geringer als fünfundneunzig Prozent des Gesamtrückzahlungsbetrags (wie jeweils anwendbar) ist oder, falls anwendbar, zur Anwendung der linearen Interpolation gilt:</u>
	<u>(x) where such Bond or Loan was issued as a result of an exchange offer, the issue price or amount advanced of the new Bond or Loan resulting from the exchange shall be deemed to be equal to the aggregate Outstanding Principal Balance of the original obligation(s) that were tendered or exchanged (the "Original Obligation(s)") at the time of such exchange (determined without regard to market or trading value of the Original Obligation(s)); and</u>	<u>(x) falls diese Anleihe bzw. dieses Darlehen infolge eines Tauschangebots begeben wurde, ist der Emissionspreis oder der Vorschussbetrags der neuen Anleihe bzw. des neuen Darlehens, welche bzw. welches aus dem Tausch resultiert, gleichzusetzen mit dem gesamten Ausstehenden Kapitalbetrag der ursprünglichen Verbindlichkeit(en), die angeboten oder getauscht wurden (die "Ursprünglichen Verbindlichkeit(en)") zum Zeitpunkt dieses Tausches (bestimmt ohne Rücksicht auf den Markt- oder Handelswerts der Ursprünglichen Verbindlichkeit(en)); und</u>
	<u>(y) in the case of a Bond or Loan that is fungible with a prior debt obligation previously issued by the Reference Entity, such Bond or Loan shall be treated as having the same issue price or amount advanced as the prior debt obligation.</u>	<u>(y) im Falle einer Anleihe oder eines Darlehens, die bzw. das mit einem vorherigen Schuldtitel fungibel ist, der von dem Referenzschuldner begeben wurde, ist diese Anleihe bzw. dieses Darlehen so zu behandeln, als hätte sie denselben Emissionspreis bzw. Vorschussbetrag wie der vorherige Schuldtitel.</u>
	<u>In circumstances where a Noteholder would have received more than one obligation in exchange for the Original Obligation(s), the Calculation Agent will determine the allocation of the aggregate Outstanding Principal Balance of the Original Obligation(s) amongst each of the resulting obligations for the purpose of determining the issue price or amount advanced of the relevant Bond or Loan. Such allocation will take into account the interest rate, maturity, level of subordination and other terms of the obligations that resulted from the</u>	<u>Unter Umständen, unter denen ein Schuldverschreibungsinhaber mehr als eine Verbindlichkeit im Austausch für die Ursprüngliche Verbindlichkeit(en) erhalten hätte, wird die Berechnungsstelle die Zuordnung des gesamten Ausstehenden Kapitalbetrags der Ursprünglichen Verbindlichkeit(en) zwischen jeder der daraus resultierenden Verbindlichkeiten bestimmen, zu Zwecken der Ermittlung des Emissionspreises bzw. Vorschussbetrags der maßgeblichen Anleihe bzw. des maßgeblichen Darlehens. Diese Zuordnung wird den</u>

	<u>exchange and shall be made by the Calculation Agent in accordance with the methodology (if any) determined by the relevant Credit Derivatives Determinations Committee.</u>	<u>Zinssatz, die Laufzeit, die Nachrangigkeit und andere Bedingungen der Verbindlichkeiten berücksichtigen, die sich aus dem Tausch ergeben, und ist von der Berechnungsstelle in Übereinstimmung mit der von dem maßgeblichen Kreditderivate-Festlegungsausschuss bestimmten Methode (falls vorhanden) vorzunehmen.</u>
--	--	--

"

IX. CHANGES IN SECTION "DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE"

- (i) In the section "DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE", paragraph 9.1 "Legal and arbitration proceedings" on pages 1057 and 1058 is modified whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

9.1 Legal and arbitration proceedings

Save as disclosed on pages 460 to 463 and 523 to 525 of the 2019 Registration Document, ~~and~~ on pages 139 to 143 of the 2019 Universal Registration Document and on pages 31 to 33 of the First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document, for a period covering the last twelve months, there have been no legal or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts which are material in the context of the issue of Notes thereunder to which Société Générale is a party nor, to the best of the knowledge and belief of Société Générale, are there any pending or threatened governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings relating to such claims or amounts which are material in the context of the issue of Notes thereunder which would in either case jeopardise the Issuer's ability to discharge its obligations in respect of the Notes.

See also paragraphs 1.1 and 2.1 in the section "Documents Incorporated by Reference" of this Base Prospectus."

- (ii) In the section "DESCRIPTION OF SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE", paragraph 9.2 "Significant change in the financial or trading position" on page 1058 is modified whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"9.2 Significant change in the financial or trading position

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of Société Générale and its consolidated subsidiaries (taken as a whole) since 30 September ~~June~~ 2019."

X. CHANGES IN SECTION "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER"

- (i) In the section "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER", paragraph 12.1 "Share capital" on page 1062 is modified whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"12.1 Share capital

The registered issued share capital of SG Issuer is EUR ~~{2,000,200}~~240 divided into ~~{50,005}~~6 ordinary fully paid up shares of EUR 40 each."

XI. CHANGES IN SECTION "GENERAL INFORMATION"

- (i) In the section "GENERAL INFORMATION", the second and third paragraphs of paragraph 2 "Credit ratings" on page 1129 is amended with the provisions deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~ as follows:

~~"At the date of this Base Prospectus,~~ Société Générale is rated:

~~"A (high) by DBRS: The DBRS® long-term rating scale provides an opinion on the risk of default on a scale of 'AAA' to 'D'. 'AA' ratings denote superior credit quality. The capacity for payment of financial obligations is considered high. Credit quality differs from 'AAA' only to a small degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events. All rating categories other~~

~~than 'AAA' and 'D' also contain subcategories "(high)" and "(low)". The absence of either a "(high)" or "(low)" designation indicates the rating is in the middle of the category."~~

- (ii) In the section "*GENERAL INFORMATION*", the eighth paragraph of paragraph 2 "*Credit ratings*" on page 1129 is amended with the provisions deleted in ~~red and strikethrough~~ as follows:

"As at the date of this Base Prospectus, each of ~~DBRS Ratings Limited~~, Moody's Investors Services, Fitch Ratings and S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited is established in the European Union and is registered under the CRA Regulation and is included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website (www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs). Rating and Investment Information, Inc. is established in Japan. It has not been registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation."

- (iii) In the section "*GENERAL INFORMATION*", paragraph 5. "*Availability of Documents*" on page 1130, the sub-paragraphs (b) and (d) are modified whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"(b) the 2018 Registration Document, ~~and the~~ the 2019 Universal Registration Document, the First Amendment to the 2019 Universal Registration Document and the Second Amendment of the Universal Registration Document;

(c) ~~the 2017 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH,~~ the 2018 Registration Document Société Générale Effekten GmbH, ~~and~~ the 2019 Registration Document (Reapproved) Société Générale Effekten GmbH;"

DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE

Copies of this Supplement and the documents incorporated by reference can be obtained, without charge, from the head office of each Issuer and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case, at the address given at the end of the Base Prospectus.

This Supplement and the document incorporated by reference will be published on the websites of:

- the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and
- the Issuers (<http://prospectus.socgen.com>)

RESPONSIBILITY

To the best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Supplement is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information and, save as disclosed in this Supplement, no other significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in or incorporated into the Base Prospectus has arisen or been noted, as the case may be, since the publication of the Base Prospectus and any other previously approved supplements to the Base Prospectus.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility accordingly for the information contained in this Supplement.